IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-75-00925

JESSICA A. HEWETT

FILED

Appellant

٧.

OCT 2 4 2007

JONATHAN L. HEWETT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY,
MISSISSIPPI
Cause No. 2006-0177-D

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

DAVID SHELBY VAN EVERY, SR. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT 516 SECOND AVENUE NORTH P O BOX 761 COLUMBUS, MS 39703

TEL: 662.327.4065 FAX: 662.329.5083

MSB#

AMENDED CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties to this action are plaintiff Jonathan L. Hewett, the appellee (hereinafter referred to as "Jonathan") and defendant Jessica A. Hewett, the appellant (hereinafter referred to as "Jessica"). The parties were divorced on August 29, 2006 and sole legal and physical custody of the parties minor child, Jonathan Conner Hewett (hereinafter referred to as "Conner"), then age 1, was granted to Jonathan with liberal visitation rights to Jessica. At the time of the divorce, August 29, 2006, Jonathan was a member of the U. S. Army stationed in Germany, soon to be deployed to Iraq. In fact, Jonathan was stationed overseas from March, 2006 and is still in Iraq today. As a result of his military duty, Jonathan was not able to exercise custody of Conner. Jessica, the natural mother of the infant, has had physical custody of Conner at all times, other than a short period when Jonathan came home for the court hearing herein.

On January 11, 2007, Jonathan filed a Petition to Cite for Contempt in the Chancery Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, R. 70 -76, seeking to hold Jessica in contempt of court for refusing to surrender custody of the parties' minor child, Conner, to Jonathan's parents, i.e. Conner's paternal grandparents (hereinafter referred to as the "Hewetts"). The contempt petition alleged that Jessica was in contempt of court because she had violated a court order. The purported court order Jessica allegedly violated was actually a Certificate of Acceptance As Guardian or Escort/Power of Attorney, being military form AF 600-20. R. 72-76. The document, part of a soldier's family care plan, designated Jonathan's father, James W. Hewett, the paternal grandfather of Conner, as the guardian/escort of Conner. Apparently Jonathan believed that by virtue of these military forms, he could assign his custody rights to his father, James Hewett. The Contempt

Petition further alleged that the Hewett's had tried to "retrieve" Conner from the natural mother, Jessica, R. 70, and that Jessica refused to surrender Conner to the Hewetts. The Petition for Contempt alleged that Jessica, the child's natural mother, was in contempt by not surrendering custody of Conner to the Hewetts based solely on the military family care plan documents attached to the contempt petition, i.e. the guardian/ power of attorney forms. No court order was attached to the petition. The only pleadings in the entire case consist of the Petition To Cite for Contempt, R.70-76, and Jessica's response to the Petition to Cite for Contempt. R.77-96. Jonathan did not even ask the court for general relief, R. 70-76.

The contempt hearing was heard on April 17, 2007 and the chancellor found Jessica was not in contempt of court as the temporary guardianship/power of attorney was not a court order and was part of the military's family care plan. The chancellor stated, "I don't put any credence in the power of attorney. "Transcript page 67 Lines 21-22. "You can't, by power of attorney, grant custody." Transcript Page 67 Lines 25-26.

However, the chancellor, over objections of defense counsel, proceeded to hold a custody/grandparent visitation hearing when the only matter pled or before the court was a contempt action.

The chancellor allowed Jonathan to proceed beyond the pleadings to inquire into issues such as "...where that child needs to be today.", Transcript page 25 Lines 6-7; "...why she [the Mother] feels justified in maintaining custody.", Transcript page 25 Lines 20-21; and "...why she [the Mother] has custody and why she thinks she is the better parent to have custody. So these issues may come out anyway. I don't see a way around it." Transcript page 25 Lines 25-28.

In essence, the chancellor required Jessica to justify why she had physical custody of Conner when the divorce decree, which was not at issue, grants physical and legal custody to Jonathan. The chancellor stated, "...the Court does need to hear enough to know where we need to go, maybe on a temporary basis or whether or not there is contempt or whether or not there is some justification for what she is doing." Transcript Page 26 Lines 1-5.

The chancellor, in explaining his reasoning about going forward with a custody/grandparents visitation issue based on a pleading of only contempt explained, "I do think that the Court has to make a decision about who is right and wrong in where that child should be in this regard, and so in that regard, I want to hear the testimony about where we are today and to help me make a decision. ...I don't want to get jumbled up with who has got the right pleadings or whether we've got the right witnesses here. I think the bottom line is, what are we going to do about that child right now, and that's what I want to hear." Transcript Page 21 Lines 17-22, 26-29; Page 22 Line 1.

It is important to note that Jonathan was stationed overseas at all times from before the date of the divorce onward and as of the date of this brief, Jonathan is still deployed in Iraq.

The chancellor announced that "We've got an issue of custody here and an issue of contempt that's been properly brought by both parties". Transcript Page 6 Lines 24-27.

Jessica filed no pleadings other than a Response to the Petition to Cite for Contempt.

The chancellor further described his version of the issues as, "The theme of this case, as I understand it, is really not contempt. It's really what we're going to do under this decree with that child, and in that regard, I need to hear what -- all the evidence --.

Transcript Page 20 Lines 14-18. Again, the only pleading was a Petition to Cite for Contempt and a Response thereto.

Jessica's counsel objected to the chancellor's going beyond the pleadings:

"Mr. Van Every: Objection, your Honor, this really goes outside of the complaint.

They just have – they're not–this is not a change of custody issue. This is not an unfit, you know, parent change of custody matter." Transcript Page 20 Lines 9-13.

Jessica's counsel objected further to the chancellor morphing a contempt of court hearing into a custody/grandparents visitation case:

"Mr. Van Every: Well, your Honor, that should have been planned and let me have an opportunity to defend that and bring witnesses on myself. All I was confronted with was a contempt of not obeying this power of attorney and guardianship, and we would object to that. We're not prepared to do that. There is no pleading to that effect. They didn't even ask for general relief, you Honor." Transcript Page 20 Lines 19-27.

At the hearing Jonathan testified that it was his belief that the military form AR 600-20 entitled "Certificate of Acceptance as Guardian or Escort" filed as an exhibit to his Contempt of Court Petition R. 72-76 was, in effect, tantamount to a court order transferring or assigning the custody of his son to the Hewetts. Jonathan testified, "My understanding was this [the Certificate of Acceptance as Guardian or Escort] would give my parents accessability to raise my son legally while I was deployed and could not do so myself." Transcript page 10 lines 6-8. In other words, Jonathan was under the delusion that by merely filling out a bureaucratic military family care plan he could assign his custody rights to Conner to his parents to the exclusion of the natural mother.

After the hearing, the Court went on to grant the Hewetts liberal grandparents

visitation consisting of every other week and one full week during the summer. R. 113-114.

The Court's order of May 2, 2007 did state that Jonathan was under a misconception that the custody of the child could be transferred by power of attorney (guardianship) R. 110. The Court's order agreed that "the grandparents were not parties nor do they have standing to raise issues." R. 112. However, during his bench opinion the chancellor ruled, "I want you to come up with a plan between the four parties here with the advice of the attorneys to give me some sort of very liberal visitation for the Hewetts,..." Transcript page 69 Lines 3-6. The chancellor again referred to the grandparents as parties, to-wit, "...something that would be liberal for everybody concerned that accommodates the parties in their respective positions." Transcript Page 69, Lines 12-14.

ISSUES

ISSUE ONE.

DID THE CHANCELLOR ERR IN AWARDING GRANDPARENT VISITATION IN THE CASE AT BAR?

ISSUE TWO.

WAS THE VISITATION CHANCELLOR AWARDED TO GRANDPARENTS EXCESSIVE?

ISSUE THREE.

DID THE CHANCELLOR DENY DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL DUE
PROCESS RIGHTS BY AWARDING GRANDPARENT VISITATION?

ISSUE FOUR.

DID CHANCELLOR ERR, BY GIVING CREDENCE TO PLAINTIFF'S FALSE OR MISLEADING TESTIMONY, PLAINTIFF'S MISLEADING PLEADINGS AND PLAINTIFF'S ARGUMENT TO THE COURT IN AWARDING GRANDPARENT VISITATION?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the case at bar, the chancellor awarded grandparent visitation to the Hewetts who were not parties to the action, did not file a petition for grandparent visitation pursuant to Mississippi's Grandparent Visitation Act, did not appear or testify in the case and had no standing in the case. The chancellor's action was clearly erroneous and in contradiction to the provisions of the Mississippi Grandparent Visitation Act and case law interpreting the Grandparent Visitation Act. The chancellor exceeded his authority by allowing a hearing on a Petition for Contempt of Court to be expanded into a custody/grandparent visitation hearing. The chancellor, in going beyond the pleadings to award grandparent visitation, abused his discretion herein. In Mississippi, a chancellor may only award grandparent visitation pursuant to the Grandparent Visitation Act and then only after insuring that certain criteria and factors concerning the grandparent's visitation have been set forth on the record. The chancellor failed to do this in the case at bar. As such, chancellor had no jurisdiction and authority to award grandparent visitation herein. Finally, by not following statutory procedure in awarding grandparent visitation, chancellor denied the defendant. her constitutional due process rights to make decisions for her child.

ARGUMENT

The appellate court employs a limited standard of review in reviewing the decisions of the chancellor. *Reddell v. Reddell*, 696 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1997). The findings of a chancellor will not be disturbed unless this Court finds the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, or made a finding which was clearly erroneous. *Park of Mississippi v. Hollingsworth*, 609 So.2d 422,424 (Miss. 1992). The Court reviews

questions of law, however, under a de novo standard. Zeman v. Standford, 789 So.2d 798, 802 (Miss. 2001).

ISSUE ONE: DID THE CHANCELLOR ERR IN AWARDING GRANDPARENT VISITATION IN THE CASE AT BAR?

A. Necessary parties were excluded.

Jessica and her counsel were placed in the awkward position of rather than simply defending a contempt of court allegation, which was the only relief pled for, to having to prove her superior right to custody of her son, Conner, an issue not pled. It should have been obvious to the Court that the natural mother automatically has physical custody of a one year old child when the custodial father is stationed in a military war zone.

In the case at bar, the Court itself recognized that the grandparents had no standing and were not parties to the action and can only pursue this action by filing under a separate action pursuant to the Mississippi Grandparent Visitation Act. R. 111. Despite this finding, the chancellor went forward with a custody/grandparent visitation hearing and gave the paternal grandparents liberal visitation, equal to the visitation of a non-custodial parent. R. 113-114.

The chancellor erred in hearing the custody/grandparent visitation matter without requiring the grandparents to file a separate petition for grandparents visitation and at the very least, be made a party to the action. Miss. Code Ann. §93-16-5 states that, "all parties required to be made parties in child custody proceedings or proceedings for the termination of parental rights shall be made parties to any proceeding in which a grandparent of a minor child or children seeks to obtain visitation rights with such minor child or children and/or to make them parties to a grandparents visitation request."

It is fundamental that a court cannot award relief to anyone not made a party to the action. In this case, grandparents were not a party and were awarded grandparent's visitation rights. A court cannot proceed to a full and final relief without joining a necessary party to the action. It would stand to reason that a necessary party to an award of grandparent visitation would be the grandparents.

Rule 17(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." As stated, the necessary or real party in interest to an award of grandparents visitation must, by definition, include the grandparents.

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 19(a) further states that "A person who is subject to the jurisdiction of the court shall be joined as a party in the action if (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties or (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action..."

It is clear that one of the real parties in interest to an award of grandparent visitation are the grandparents, the beneficiaries of the award. The plaintiff and the Court violated MRCP Rules 17(a) and 19(a)(1)(2) by not prosecuting the actions in the name of the grandparents and by not joining the grandparents in as a party plaintiff. In their absence, complete relief could not be accorded to those already parties and a real party in interest, a necessary party to the action, was excluded therefrom. Since the grandparents were not parties to the action the order granting them visitation is void ab initio.

B. Court's award of grandparent visitation was outside pleadings and without jurisdiction.

Judge V. A. Griffith in his treatise on Mississippi Chancery Practice has written at

length about a chancellor's jurisdiction.

Griffith states that a court must have jurisdiction of the particular case, a jurisdiction which is conferred by the scope and content of the pleadings.

§ 29a. The jurisdiction that is conferred by the pleadings.

—In the third place the court must have jurisdiction of the particular case,—a jurisdiction which is conferred by the scope and contents of the pleadings. It is essential to the maintenance of a free government, one controlled by laws rather than by men, and especially so in periods of stress and strain, that all the powers of government shall rest within such limitations as will prevent unconfined and boundless use of the authority conferred upon any one agency of the government. It is the particular province of courts in civil cases to settle disputes between litigants, and a civil suit presupposes some contestable issue or issues between adversary parties. Such is the whole of the province of courts in civil cases. They therefore do not initiate litigation nor stir up questions in the quieting of which the parties have not formally requested judicial aid. If this were not so, courts would, or at least could. become fomenters of disputes instead of the settlers thereof and their powers would be without bounds or limits,—the action of judges could become personal and run to unrestrained lengths. It would be utterly inadmissible, therefore, in any system making a pretense to the orderly and responsible administration of justice to allow a party who has sued, for instance, for the cancellation of a contract concerning personal property to appear at court with his witnesses and thereupon put the defendant to trial on a demand for the foreclosure of a mortgage on land. The requirement that causes shall be presented by written pleadings signed by the respective parties or their solicitors rests upon a deeper foundation than mere practical convenience. And if, in such a case, the defendant knew when he came into court that the real case that he was to defend was the demand to foreclose rather than the suit to cancel, and he had come prepared, and without objection to the pleading he had gone into the trial on the demand for a foreclosure, and if therefore it should be contended that having done so he should be bound by the result although the case actually tried was not pleaded,— which at best could be only an arbitration,—let it be answered that the rule has a higher concern than the rights of any one defendant,—it goes to all defendants present and prospective, not only in that case but in all cases.

§ 30. **Jurisdiction is limited by the pleadings.**—It follows therefore, as a matter of indispensable principle, that although the court may have potential jurisdiction to adjudicate all cases of a certain class, that jurisdiction does not become actual in any particular case within that class until it is presented to the court by a formal pleading, stating the facts of the case which must

include an injury to, or a right withheld from, the complaining party by the opposite party and a request for the appropriate aid of the court with respect thereto. It equally follows, under the principle stated and for the preservation of its full integrity, that the extent of the interference of the court is limited by the pleadings,—by the facts and issues as stated therein, and extends no further; in other words, the court has no proper jurisdiction of the facts and issues other than as presented to the court by the pleadings and an assumption to act beyond the scope thereof, although there be proof of such extraneous facts, is unauthorized, and is either void or erroneous according to the extent that the action overruns the issues made in the record of the pleadings. And as a consequence, it also follows that if no case for relief is made by the pleadings, or by valid amendments thereto, then the court will not act therein at all beyond a dismissal of the pretended cause out of court; and this will be done even though no defense is made; for, if there be no case stated it is made no better by a neglect to defend. It will still be no case.

Mississippi Chancery Practice, page 30, 31, (2d ed. 1950 Bobbs Merrill).

The chancellor herein allowed the case to go way beyond the pleadings and held in effect, a mini-custody/grandparents visitation hearing, when custody was not pled for nor at issue.

According to Judge Griffith's treatise, the court in the case at bar was without jurisdiction by hearing issues of custody/grandparent visitation when only a contempt of court action was pled. Any order resulting from going beyond the issues raised by the pleadings is either erroneous or void. As stated hereinabove, the Court was totally without jurisdiction to grant grandparent visitation herein.

C. Grandparent Visitation Act was not invoked.

Neither the custody of the child nor grandparents visitation should have been an issue in the case at bar. Jessica is the natural mother who has had physical custody of the minor child of the parties from the birth of the child, throughout the time of the divorce, and up until the present time. This is due to the fact that the natural father was unable to exercise his legal and physical custody rights awarded in the divorce decree due to his

military deployment overseas. The proof is clear that Jonathan was stationed in Germany and Iraq since on or about March 16, 2006 through the date of this brief except for a two week period of R and R during which the hearing herein was held i.e. April 17, 2007.

Asked by Jessica's counsel when he left to go overseas Jonathan replied;

Jonathan: A. March 15th, I think.

Mr. Van Every: Q. Of 2006?

Jonathan: A. Yes. Transcript page 30 Lines 7-11.

Mr. Van Every: Q. ...When did you come home from Iraq on leave during 2006, if any?

Jonathan: A. None, during 2006.

Mr. Van Every: Q. Okay. So you - - it was impossible for you to have custody of your child during that period of time from August 29, the day of the divorce, for the rest of the year; is that correct?

Jonathan: A. Yes, it was.

Mr. Van Every: Q. Okay. So when did you next come back to the United States from your deployment?

Jonathan: A. Just now for my R and R.

Mr. Van Every: Q. Just now. Okay. And so you - - it was impossible for you to have custody during that time, is that right? You were in battle in Iraq, is that correct?

Jonathan: A. Yes, I was. Transcript Page 36 Lines 14 -28.

Jonathan admitted that it was impossible for him to exercise physical custody of Conner during the entire year of 2006 and only came home for two weeks in April, 2007,

making it impossible for him to care for or have physical custody of Conner after the divorce (August 29, 2006).

There is a fundamental presumption that, absent abandonment or unfitness, it is in the best interest of children to be in the custody of a natural parent. A parent has the fundamental right to raise his or her children in the manner they see fit. *Martin v. Martin*, 744 So.2d, 817, 820 (Miss. 1999), citing *Carter v. Taylor*, 611 So.2d 874, 876 (Miss. 1992). The natural parents are superior to all other persons, Miss. Code Ann. §93-13-1.

The mother, being the natural parent, by default, has custody and need not prove to anyone why she is the better parent to have custody as she is the only parent that could have exercised custody in this situation. A hearing on the issue of who should have custody or is the better parent to have custody, was superfluous, unnecessary and wholly without jurisdiction. The case should have been summarily dismissed and if the grandparents wanted visitation, they should have done so pursuant to law.

In Mississippi, grandparents have no common law right of visitation with their grandchildren. *Hale v. Hood*, 313 So. 2d 18, 19-20 (Miss. 1975). Such rights, if any, must come from a legislative enactment; *Matter of Adoption of a Minor*, 558 So.2d 854, 856 (MS 1990); that any rights a grandparent has to visitation with their grandchildren are purely statutory. *Woodell v. Parker*, 860 So.2d 781, 786 (Miss. 2003). "Standing to seek visitation rights by grandparents may be established only by legislative enactment, *Miss. Divorce, Alimony and Child Custody*, 6th Ed. Shelton Hand Page 802, fn 33 (2003).

To address this issue, the Mississippi Legislature enacted the Grandparents Visitation Rights Act, Miss. Code Ann. §93-16-1 to 93-16-7. The Grandparents Visitation Rights Act provides a way in which grandparents in Mississippi may petition the Chancery

Court for visitation rights with their grandchildren. It is also the only manner, absent removal of a child from an unfit parent, that a chancellor can award grandparents visitation.

The Grandparents Visitation Act requires the chancellor to make certain findings from the evidence. This is to insure that the grandparents have met certain conditions before they can obtain relief from the court. Since the Hewetts (grandparents) were the parents of the custodial parent herein, the relevant criteria and factors are found in Mississippi Code Sections 93-16-3(2) and (3). Section 93-16-3(2)(3) provides, in pertinent part:

- (2) Any grandparent who is not authorized to petition for visitation rights pursuant to subsection (1) of this section may petition the Chancery Court and seek visitation with his or her grandchild, and the court may grant visitation to the grandparent, provided the court finds:
- (a) that the grandparent of the child had established a viable relationship with the child and the parent or custodian of the child unreasonably denied the grandparent visitation with the child; and
- (b) that visitation of the grandparent with the child would be in the best interest of the child.
- (3) For purposes of subsection (3) of this section, the term viable relationship in 93-16-3(2)(a) means a relationship in which grandparents or either of them have voluntarily and in good faith supported the child financially in whole or in part for a period of not less than six (6) months before filing any petition for visitation with the child or the grandparents have had frequent visitation, including overnight visitation, with said child for a

period of not less than one (1) year.

The record proves that the Hewett's did not have a viable relationship with Conner.

Jonathan's own attorney proved this in his examination of his own client as follows:

Mr. Ford: Q. Did you have a conversation or an understanding with your exwife about who would take custody of your child, Conner?

Jonathan: A. We discussed it, and I had talked about bringing him to my parents' house. It was discussed that it wasn't a good idea to throw him into my parents' house with them not knowing him, because it would be a gradual process, bringing Conner over, you know, for one night and then maybe a weekend, maybe every other weekend, just for him to get to know my parents again and get used to them, but that process never took place. Transcript Page 19 Lines 11-22.

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