#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-TS-00925

| TESSICA A. HEWEL. | <b>IESSI</b> | CA A. | HEWETT | [ |
|-------------------|--------------|-------|--------|---|
|-------------------|--------------|-------|--------|---|

**APPELLANT** 

V.

JONATHAN L. HEWETT

**APPELLEE** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI Cause No. 2006-0177-D

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

J. DOUGLAS FORD (MSB FORD & RAY, PLLC POST OFFICE BOX 1018 COLUMBUS, MISSISSIPPI 39703 TELEPHONE: (662) 329-0110

FACSIMILE: (662) 329-3522

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

1. Parties:

Appellee

Jonathan L. Hewett

**Appellant** 

Jessica A. Hewett

2. Attorneys:

For Appellee

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

By a final judgment of divorce entered in this matter and agreed to by the parties to this matter, the Father has full physical and legal custody of the parties' minor child. By statutory definition, "physical custody" means those periods of time which a child resides with or is under the care and supervision of one of the parents.

Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-24(5)(b) (1972), as amended. By statutory definition, "legal custody" means the decision making rights, the responsibilities and the authority relating to the health, education and welfare of a child. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-24(5)(d) (1972), as amended. Thus, when one parent has both full legal and physical custody of a child, that parent determines what is in the best interest of the child relative to its care, custody, control, health, education and general welfare.

Jonathan determined that his father, Connor's paternal grandfather, would be the best person to retain the custody, care and control of Connor while he was temporarily deployed overseas in the military. Despite his determination, the Mother took and retained physical and legal custody of Connor and thwarted the Father's attempts to have contact with him. The Mother's actions were intentional and done without any legal authority. She never petitioned the Court to modify custody. She, instead, asked the Court to approve of her conduct and to ratify her unilateral decision to take the custody, care and control of the child despite a court order to the contrary. The Mother should have been held in contempt of court for failing to

acknowledge the Father's contractual and statutory rights to determine the care, custody and control of the minor child. The Court erred in awarding temporary custody to the Mother when she did not petition the Court for a change in custody and when the natural parent presumption did not apply. Alternatively, the Court's ruling attempted to satisfy all concerns and should be upheld if the Mother was legally justified in retaining custody despite the Father's wishes.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

Chancellors are accorded great discretion in resolving disputed questions of fact such that awards will not be reversed on appeal unless the Chancellor was manifestly in error in the findings of fact. Powers v. Power, 568 So. 2d 255, 257 (Miss. 1990). However, questions of law are reviewed de novo. Appellate courts will reverse if a Chancellor applied an incorrect legal standard. Brown v. Miss. Dept of Human Services, 806 So. 2d 1109, 1113 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). In child custody cases, the Chancellor must be manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or have applied the wrong legal standard for this Court to reverse. Hill v. Hill, 942 So. 2d 207 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), citing Williams v. Williams, 656 So. 2d 325, 330 (Miss. 1995).

II. The Chancellor was in error not holding the Mother in contempt for her failure to acknowledge the Father's statutory and contractual rights to make decisions relating to the care, custody and control of the minor child.

Complete physical and legal custody of the parties' minor child is vested in the

Father and has been so vested since entry by the Court of the Final Judgment of Divorce in this matter. R.E. 10. Physical custody is defined to mean "those periods of time in which a child resides with or is under the care and supervision of one (1) of the parents." Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-24(5)(b) (1972). Legal custody is defined to mean "the decision-making rights, the responsibilities and the authority relating to the health, education and welfare of a child." Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-24(5)(d) (1972).

The petition to cite the mother for contempt, which was filed by the Father in this matter, was filed because the Mother was interfering with and refusing to acknowledge the Father's rights as the physical and legal custodian of the minor child to determine the care, custody and control of the minor child. R.E. 20-23, 25. The father did not know and was not informed by the Mother, even upon request, as to where the child was kept and who was keeping the child at various times when the Mother was at work or out partying. R.E. 20-23, 25. The Chancellor was manifestly in error to overlook or ignore the statutory and contractual rights of the Father to make such decisions that related to the minor child and to ignore the fact that the Mother had intentionally thwarted the Father's attempts to communicate with the minor child. Accordingly, that portion of the Chancellor's decision finding the Mother not to be in contempt should be reversed and remanded such that the Mother should be responsible for the Father's attorney fees and costs.

III. The Mother was not entitled to temporary physical custody of the child as she did not petition the court for a change of custody and she failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a change of custody would be in the best interest of the child.

Instead of filing a petition to modify/change custody in response to the petition for contempt, the Mother filed a motion to dismiss attempting to rely on what is known as the "natural parent presumption" in order to justify her unilateral decision to take physical and legal custody of the minor child while at the same time ignoring the contractual and statutory rights of the Father. R. 79. The Court ratified the Mother's actions in taking physical custody of the minor child without prior authority by awarding to her the temporary physical custody of the minor child until the Father returns from his tour of duty with the Army overseas.

Interestingly enough, the Mother recognizes in her Brief that "custody was not pled for nor at issue". *Appellant's Brief, p. 10.* The Appellant goes on to argue that "[a]ccording to Judge Griffith's treatise, the court in the case at bar was without jurisdiction by hearing issues of custody/grandparent visitation when only a contempt of court action was pled." <u>Id.</u> Thus, according to the Mother's own arguments here on appeal, the Court did not have jurisdiction to award temporary physical custody to the Mother. Physical and legal custody of the minor child was vested in the Father at the time of the hearing on the petition to cite the Mother for contempt and the Mother did not petition the court for a change of custody.

#### A. The natural parent presumption.

The natural parent presumption is that a natural parent's right to custody is superior to that of third parties, whether grandparents or others. Grant v. Martin, 757 So. 2d 264, 266 (Miss. 2000). However, the natural parent presumption does not apply when parents voluntarily relinquish custody of a minor child through a court of competent jurisdiction. Id.(emphasis added) In that instance, a natural parent who voluntarily relinquishes custody of a minor child, through a court of competent jurisdiction, has forfeited the right to rely on the existing natural parent presumption. A natural parent may reclaim custody of the child only upon a showing by clear and convincing evidence that the change in custody is in the best interest of the child. Id.

## B. The natural parent presumption does not apply.

The Mother agreed to the divorce based on irreconcilable differences and executed the property settlement and child custody agreement which is incorporated into the Final Judgment of Divorce. The Mother signed the property settlement and child custody agreement which gives the Father full physical and legal custody of the minor child not once, but twice. She first signed it when the joint complaint for divorce was filed on March 7, 2006 and, again, on August 24, 2006 when she signed an amended property settlement and child custody agreement. *R. 18, 50.* Both the original property settlement and child custody agreement and the amended property settlement and child custody agreement and legal custody are vested in the Father. By agreeing to the terms of custody in the property settlement

and child custody agreement, the Mother relinquished custody of the minor child through a court of competent jurisdiction. Accordingly, the natural parent presumption does not apply in this case.

Since the natural parent presumption does not apply, the Mother was required to file a petition to modify/change custody and then prove by clear and convincing evidence that granting temporary physical custody of the child to her was in the best interest of the child. Id. The Mother filed no such petition to modify and failed to meet the requisite burden of proof to change custody of the minor child to her.

Consequently, the decision of the Chancellor should be reversed such that the minor child's paternal grandfather be vested with the temporary physical custody of the minor child pending the Father's return from active duty overseas.

IV. Alternatively, should the natural parent presumption be found applicable, the ruling of he Chancellor as to temporary custody with visitation allowed the paternal grandparents should be upheld.

In the alternative, should the Mother be deemed to have sufficiently pled for a change in custody and the natural parent presumption be found applicable in favor of the Mother, then the Chancellor's decision as to temporary physical custody of the minor child with visitation allowed the paternal grandparents should be upheld.

Admittedly, the Father is unable to take physical custody of the parties' minor child while he is serving his country overseas.

However, in anticipation of his temporary absence that would prevent him from taking physical custody of the child, the Father executed various documents

indicating his intent and desire that his father, the minor child's paternal grandfather, be the person who was to take physical and legal custody, care and control of the minor child during his temporary absence from the United States while on active duty in the military. This he has the right, power and authority to do by virtue of the fact that he has sole "legal" custody of the minor child.

Accordingly, the Court's decision to allow the paternal grandparents certain visitation rights with the minor child is not manifestly wrong or erroneous. Rather, the Court has given credence and merit to the Father's contractual and statutory right to determine the care, custody and general welfare of the child while at the same time acknowledging the Mother's right to temporary physical custody during the Father's tour of duty overseas.

Given the totality and uniqueness of the facts and circumstances that were developed during the hearing of this matter, the Chancellor was faced with unique issues. However, the Court crafted an order that attempted to and did address the underlying issues while keeping in mind the polestar consideration of what is in the best interest of the child.

#### CONCLUSION

First and foremost, the Chancellor should be found manifestly wrong in not holding the Mother in contempt of court for her willful and intentional failure to acknowledge the statutory and contractual rights of the Father to determine the custody, care and welfare of the minor child. The Father was vested with sole and

complete physical and legal custody of the minor child by virtue of the parties' divorce.

Secondly, because the Mother did not petition the court for a change of custody, and because the natural parent presumption does not apply to benefit the Mother in this case, then the Chancellor was in error in awarding temporary physical custody of the minor child to the mother. The Mother did not petition the Court to change custody and the Mother did not prove by clear and convincing evidence that changing custody was in the best interest of the child.

Alternatively, however, should the Mother be deemed to have somehow invoked the Court's jurisdiction to determine custody and should the natural parent presumption be found applicable, than the ruling of the Chancellor vesting temporary physical custody of the minor child with the mother and vesting certain visitation rights in the paternal grandparents should be upheld. By so doing, the Chancellor gave legal and practical effect to the natural parent presumption while, at the same time, acknowledging the Father's statutory and contractual rights as the "legal" custodian to determine the care, custody and general welfare of the minor child. The result is then equitable and not manifestly in error.